
 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY 
COMMITTEE

11.00 am

MONDAY
15 DECEMBER 2014

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





Published Date Not Specified

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

TIME: 11.00 am
DATE: Monday 15th December, 2014
VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Minutes - (Pages 1 - 4)
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 
3 September 2014.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452 
425096

2.  Public Questions on Application(s) 
To answer any written or public questions about the application(s) 
before the Committee at this meeting.  The closing date /time for 
the receipt of questions 
is 10 am on 8 December 2014.

With the consent of the Chairperson, to answer any oral 
question(s) on the application(s) before the Committee at this 
meeting put by members of the public.

Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452 
425096

3.  Members Questions on Application(s) 
To answer any written members’ questions on the application(s) 
before Committee at the meeting. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10am on 8 December 2014.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452 
425096

4.  Application for the registration of land known as "Baxter's 
Field", Summer Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire as a town or 
village green under Section 15 Of The Commons Act 2006 
(Pages 5 - 86)
To consider the following application:



Published Date Not Specified

Application for the registration of an area of land known as 

“Baxter’s Field”, Summer Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire as a 

town or village green.

As shown edged in red on the plan attached to the Application and 

set out in Appendix 1.

5.  Commons Registration: New Procedure for Applications to 
amend the Commons Register (Pages 87 - 90)
To consider the attached report which informs the Committee on a 
new procedure for applications to amend the commons register.

6.  Public Questions - 
To answer any written or public questions about the matters, 
which are within the powers and duties of the Committee.
The closing date /time for the receipt of questions is 10am on 8 
December 2014.

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public.

Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452 
425096

7.  Members' Questions - 
To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 
for the receipt of questions is 8 December 2014 at 10am.

Alison 
Wantenaar
Tel: 
01452425094

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP –Cllr John Cordwell, Cllr Tony Hicks, Cllr Richard Leppington, 
Cllr Paul McMahon, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Prince, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Simon Wheeler

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Published Date Not Specified

(c) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

(d) Please note substitution arrangements are in place as detailed in the 
Constitution.

(e) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact 

Jane Cleaver, Senior Democratic Services Advisor, 01452 425094 e-mail 
jane.cleaver@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(f) RECORDING OF MEETINGS - Please note that photography, filming and audio 
recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the Local Government 
Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 425096) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If 
you are a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed 
please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.cleaver@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Commons and Rights of Way Committee held on 
Wednesday 3rd September, 2014 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr John Cordwell
Cllr Tony Hicks
Cllr Richard Leppington

Cllr Paul McMahon
Cllr Nigel Moor (Chairman)
Cllr Simon Wheeler

Substitutes: Cllr Phil Awford

Apologies: Cllr David Prince, Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Robert Vines

13. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 

Resolved 

That Cllr Nigel Moor be elected Chairman for the remainder of the civic year.

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Moor declared a prejudicial interest in agenda item 7 and would therefore 
relinquish the chair and retire from the meeting at that stage.

The Committee agreed that Cllr Cordwell should take the chair for that item.

15. MINUTES - 

The Chairman proposed the following amendment to minute number 11, paragraph 
9.

Mr Rice: The discussion on the application for a Village Green appeared to suggest 
that there was evidence of an unrecorded public right of way and has a declaration 
appeared in the statutory register for the land in question?

On being put to the vote the amendment was carried and the Committee therefore

Resolved

That the minutes be approved as a correct record subject to the amendment 
detailed above.

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

16. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No questions from members of the public on the applications before the Committee 
had been received.

17. MEMBERS QUESTIONS 

No questions from members on the applications before the Committee had been 
received.

18. APPLICATION FOR THE REGISTRATION OF LAND ADJACENT TO 
CHURCHDOWN COMMUNITY CENTRE ("THE FIELD"), PARTON ROAD, 
CHURCHDOWN, GLOUCESTERSHIRE AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 
UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 2006 

Carrie Denness, Principal Lawyer, introduced the report on the application for land 
adjacent to Churchdown Community Centre to become a town or village green 
under Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.  Ms Denness’s introduction was aided 
by a power-point presentation (copy of which is attached to the signed copy of 
these minutes).

In response to members’ questions on the details of the application Ms Denness 
highlighted the following points:

 The Inspector’s report indicated that the application failed on the first 
statutory criterion (claimed neighbourhood was not a neighbourhood for the 
purposes of the application).

 Signage had been in place from the late 1980s and had been replaced in 
2012.

 The Committee should determine the application only on the facts before it.

 The Inspector had not detailed the test for ‘a significant number’ since the 
findings had been that the application failed on the first criterion.

Although acknowledging the possibility that inexperience had caused the applicants 
to fail to provide sufficient evidence to meet the neighbourhood test, the Committee 
noted that they had had the opportunity to seek independent legal advice.  Having 
considered all the information before it the Committee

Resolved

That the Application dated 9 July 2012 made by Mr & Mrs J C Robinson (“the 
Applicants”) for the registration of an area of land adjacent to Churchdown 
Community Centre, Parton Road, Churchdown (as shown edged red on the 
plan attached to the Application Appendix 1) as a town or village green 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 be REFUSED for the reasons 
set out in the Inspector’s report attached at Appendix 2.

At this juncture Cllr Moor relinquished the Chair, and left the meeting.  
Cllr Cordwell assumed the Chair as agreed at the start of the meeting.

19. APPLICATION FOR THE REGISTRATION OF LAND KNOWN AS THE CRICKET 
GROUND, LOWER SWELL ROAD, STOW ON THE WOLD, 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN UNDER SECTION 15 
OF THE COMMONS REGISTRATION ACT 2006 

Carrie Denness, Principal Lawyer, introduced the report on the application for land 
known as the Cricket Ground, at Lower Swell Road, Stow-on-the-Wold to become a 
town or village green.  Ms Denness used a power point slide show to aid her 
presentation (copy of which attached to the signed copy of the minutes).

Ms Denness explained the Inspector’s finding that the use was ‘by right’ rather than 
‘as of right’.

Having considered all the information before it the Committee

Resolved

That the Application dated 5 February 2008 (CRA date of receipt 11 February 
2008) made by Mr W R Cheston for the registration of an area of land known 
as the Cricket Ground, Lower Swell Road (as shown edged red on the plan 
attached to the Application (Appendix 1)) as a town or village green pursuant 
to section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 be REFUSED for the reasons set out 
in the Inspector’s reports attached at Appendix 2 to the report.

Cllr Moor returned to the meeting and resumed the Chair.

20. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No written questions on the Committee’s powers and duties had been received.  
The following oral questions were asked:

Mr Rice

Question 1:

A). Why did the GCC fail to respond to my question with the written response that 
the minutes advised, also to be published on its website and circulated to all CROW 
Committee members according to the minutes?
 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

B). Why has the GCC failed to remove the “phantom” CROW meeting of 19th June 
2009 from its calendar, after repeatedly being advised that no such meeting took 
place?  

The Chairman responded by assuring Mr Rice that the website information would 
be checked and amended as required.

Question 2:

A). Is this Committee satisfied that the GCC has only resolved four of these high 
priority applications (Definitive Map Modification Orders) in over four years 
(factoring out the Bisley application that was decided by Public Inquiry before 
the June 2010 CROW Committee Meeting took place and the Cam 
application which was rejected as not legally compliant)?

 
B). What is the GCCs forecast completion date to resolve the 19 current 

outstanding high priority applications, to modify its definitive map of rights of 
way (many of which have already been “backlogged” for many years)?

 
C). Does this committee now believe that, because of the clear  lack of progress 

made, it should establish time bound stringent performance objectives and 
accountability reviews for the quantity of definitive map modification Orders 
that the GCC is required to determine and resolve?

The Chairman responded by assuring Mr Rice that his concerns had been noted 
and highlighted that members of the Committee were active in the appropriate 
arenas to ensure that whenever possible appropriate resourcing was directed to 
this area of work.

21. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No questions had been received.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 15:50

Page 4



COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Application for the registration of land known as “Baxter’s Field”, Summer 
Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire as a town or village green under Section 15 Of 

The Commons Act 2006

Report of the Head of Legal Services

1. Purpose of the Report

To consider the following application:

Application for the registration of an area of land known as “Baxter’s Field”, Summer 

Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire as a town or village green.

Application Land:

Land known as “Baxter’s Field”, Summer Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire shown 

edged red on the plan attached to the Application and set out in Appendix 1.

Name of Applicant: Summer Street Open Space Group (“SSOSG”) 

Date of Application: 4 January 2013

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2. Recommendation

That the Application dated 4 January 2013 made by SSOSG (“the Applicants”) for 

the registration of an area of land known as Baxter’s Field, Summer Street, Stroud, 

Gloucestershire (as shown edged red on the plan attached to the Application 

Appendix 1) as a town or village green pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Act 

2006 should be REFUSED for the reasons set out in the Inspectors report attached at 

Appendix 2.

3. Statutory Authority

Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 (“the Act”) provides for the amendment of the 

register of town or village greens maintained by the County Council as the Commons 

Registration Authority (“CRA”) where “any land becomes…a town or village green”. 

Any person may make an application to the CRA for the amendment of the register 

provided that the criteria set out in section 15 of the Act for the establishment of a 

town or village green is met. The County Council as the CRA is obliged to consider 

any such application, duly made, in accordance with the relevant regulations and to 

register any land should that statutory criterion be met.

4. Report

4.1 Description

The area of land that is the subject of this application (“the Application”) is known as 

“Baxter’s Field”, Summer Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire (“Application Land”) which 

is situated in a northerly direction from Summer Street, Stroud. The field’s southern 

boundary abuts properties situated on Summer Street and houses on All Saints 

Fields. Photographs showing the Application Land will be available during the 

presentation at the committee meeting.

Page 6



4.2 General

4.2.1 Town or village greens are areas of land within defined settlements or 

geographical areas of land which are used for sports and recreational 

pastimes by the inhabitants of the neighbourhood or locality. A town or village 

green may be privately owned although in practice many are owned by the 

local district/parish council.

4.2.2 The Act sets out the legal criteria that is required for a town or village green to 

be registered. Section 15(2) of the Act sets out the test that needs to be met 

for an area of land to be registered as a town or village green. Each aspect 
of the test needs to be met for an application to be successful. 

Section 15(2) states: -

“(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality or of any 

     neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

     sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years, and

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application”.

4.2.3 Statutory Test

 Significant Number

The term was defined in the case of R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County 

Council (2002) Sullivan J said that “significant” did not mean a considerable or 

a substantial number. He said the correct answer is that what matters “is that 

the number of people using the said land in question has to be sufficient to 

indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the 

community for informal recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals 

as trespassers”.

Page 7



 Inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality

A locality must be an area recognised in law (e.g. parish boundary), as set out 

by Sullivan J in the case of Cheltenham Builders Limited v South 

Gloucestershire District. However a “neighbourhood” does not have to be 

legally recognised and may for example cover a housing estate. A 

neighbourhood cannot be just any area drawn on a map; it must have some 

degree of cohesiveness. Its boundaries must be ascertainable given that the 

effect of registration as a new town or village green is to confer upon the 

inhabitants of the locality or neighbourhood relied upon, general recreational 

rights.  It is therefore, necessary to be able to identify those who are 

possessed of the right to use the land and those post-registration users who 

continue to be trespassers against whom the landowner would be entitled to 

bring proceedings.  The CRA has to be satisfied that the area alleged to be a 

neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness in order to satisfy the 

test.

 The term “as of right”

An applicant must show that the land has been used without force, stealth or 

permission from the landowner.

 Lawful sports and pastimes

The type of activity which historically has been accepted has had to be 

something more than a mere wandering as it is “lawful sports and pastimes” 

required to satisfy the test and not “exercise and recreation”. Types of activity 

include, playing games e.g. cricket/rounders, dog walking, fruit picking, bird 

watching etc.

 For a period of twenty years

The 20 year period is the period immediately preceding the application, the 

final day of the period being that upon which the application is made.

Page 8



4.2.4     Town and Village Green Procedure

The procedure which has to be followed  in respect of determining town 

and village green applications is set out in the relevant Regulations “The 

Commons (Registration of Town or Village Green) (Interim Arrangements) 

(England) Regulations 2007”.

4.2.5 With regards to this Application, the Applicants have applied to register the 

land under section 15 (1) and (2) of the Act on the basis that a significant 

number of the inhabitants have indulged in lawful sports and recreational 

pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years and they continued to 

do so at the time the Application was submitted to the CRA.

4.3 Application and Background

The Applicants submitted the Application to the CRA on the 4 January 2013, which 

was date stamped by the CRA on the 17 January 2013. They sought to rely upon the 

neighbourhood/locality of Summer Street in the electoral ward of ‘Trinity’ (Stroud 

District).The Applicants claimed local residents had indulged in lawful sports and 

pastimes as of right for not less than 20 years on the Application Land and up until 

the date of the Application. The Application was supported by statements of 

evidence from local residents. The evidence statements advised that the Application 

Land had been used for at least 20 years for activities such as dog walking, children 

playing, picnics, photography, berry picking.

The CRA advertised the Application in a local newspaper and by erecting site 

notices on 1 May 2013. Due to an administrative error regarding the published 

consultation deadline the CRA re-advertised the Application on the 15 May 2013 with 

a six week consultation period running until the 26 June 2013 as required by The 

Commons (Registration of Town or Village Green) (Interim Arrangements) (England) 

Regulations 2007. 

 An objection was received from the substantive landowner (Four Oaks 

Developments Limited) of the Application Land in respect of the Application. The 

landowner claimed that the Application failed on a number of grounds;

Page 9



(1) For a substantial part of the qualifying period, the whole of the Application 

Land was enclosed by a fence including a concrete post and wire mesh 

fence and a locked gate which prevented and obstructed access to the 

Application Land.

(2) The use of the Application Land did not amount to use for sport and 

recreational pastimes for the purposes of an application to register land as 

a town or village green. During the latter part of the qualifying period, 

following forcible access being obtained a worn track was visible around 

the perimeter of the Application Land.

(3) The Application Land comprises and comprised of during the qualifying 

period a field which was substantially overgrown with rough scrub and 

other vegetation such that it was not used nor was it capable of any 

meaningful use for lawful sports and pastimes.

(4) The Applicants had failed to produce evidence to demonstrate use by a 

significant number of inhabitants of the claimed locality in either numerical 

or geographical terms.

The CRA forwarded the objection material to the Applicants for consideration and 

comment. A period of liaison occurred between the CRA and the parties allowing 

them to address issues raised by each other and in order for the CRA to establish 

key information to assist with the determination of the Application.

As there was an impasse in the evidence placed before the CRA, the CRA 

considered that it would be prudent to instruct an independent Inspector to hear oral 

evidence from the parties to establish whether the Application satisfied the legal 

tests set out in section 15 of the Act, in particular as to whether the 

neighbourhood/locality met with legislative requirements and whether the use could 

be considered to amount to sports and recreational pastimes.

4.4 Pre- Inquiry Meeting 

The CRA held a pre inquiry meeting on 17 April 2014 between the parties and the 

appointed Inspector (Ms Rowena Meager of No5. Chambers, Birmingham) to 

discuss any procedural issues and to set a date to hold the Inquiry.

Page 10



4.5 Third Party Landowners

It was established at the pre-inquiry meeting that not all of the Application Land fell 

within the ownership of Four Oaks Development Limited. Two small parcels of land 

relative to the overall area of the Application Land, along with Four Oaks 

Development Limited’s land made up the Application Land.

One a small square of land situated at the south-western corner of the Application 

Land owned by Western Power Distribution (West Midlands) Plc. The other parcel of 

land being a strip of land, adjacent to the eastern boundary of the Western Power 

Distribution land (running part way along the southern boundary). It was established 

that this land was unregistered and the owner of it could not be identified or located. 

It was noted that his strip of land was mainly used for parking vehicles and not for 

recreational pastimes.

Given that another land owner had been indentified the CRA preceded to notify 

Western Power Distribution (West Midlands) Plc of the Application, providing formal 

notice on the 6 May 2014 allowing them a six week consultation period to raise any 

objections. Western Power Distribution (West Midlands) Plc formally objected to the 

Application on the 20th June 2014.

4.6 Inquiry Meeting

The Inspector held a non-statutory Inquiry between the 15th - 18th September 2014 at 

the Subscription Rooms, Kendrick Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire. 

The Inspector heard evidence from 13 witnesses on behalf of the Applicants and 2 

witnesses on behalf of Four Oaks Development Limited (Western Power Distribution 

(West Midlands) Plc confirmed that they did not wish to provide oral evidence at the 

Inquiry and sought to rely on their written objection only) in addition to the written 

evidence that had been submitted by all parties.

The Inspector also heard from 3 members of the public in respect of the Application.

Page 11



The Inspector held a site visit on the 18th September 2014 with the County Council’s 

Deputy Head of Legal Services, Gillian Parkinson, in attendance and representatives 

of the parties. No evidence was heard during the site visit. The Inspector walked 

around the whole of the Application Land and in addition viewed the claimed 

neighbourhood and its boundaries.

5.   Inspectors Report and Recommendation 

5.1 A copy of the Inspector’s report may be found at Appendix 2 and provides a 

detailed analysis of the evidence which was submitted at the Inquiry, together 

with all written submissions provided by the parties and those who spoke at 

the Inquiry.  The report also applies the relevant case law and legal tests in 

respect of the Inspector making her recommendations to the Committee.  

5.2 In testing all of the evidence at the Inquiry the Inspector has concluded that 

the relevant statutory criteria has not been satisfied in relation to the 

Application and that consequently no part of the Application Land should be 

registered as a town or village green.

5.3 The Inspector within her report states that the Application fails on the legal 

tests regarding neighbourhood at first instance and goes on to state that the 

use of the land for sports and recreational purposes is insufficient, as the 

Application Land is mostly used for thoroughfare or use akin to public rights of 

way use.

5.4      At paragraphs 169, 170 and 171 on pages 50 and 51 of the Inspectors report 

the Inspector states: - 

169. “I have heard no evidence about what makes the claimed 

neighbourhood, as defined on the ‘neighbourhood map’…a 

neighbourhood for the purposes of this Application. I visited the 

neighbourhood and inspected the boundaries of it and found that those 

boundaries dissected a number of roads…the neighbourhood 

boundary as drawn left out some of the houses on the north side of 

Bisley Old Road and all of the houses on the south side of it and there 

Page 12



was no obvious explanation for that drawing of the boundary and why 

those houses that were excluded were not part of the claimed 

neighbourhood yet the others on that road purportedly were. The same 

or similar observations can be made in relation to Parliament Street, 

Langtoft Road and Middle Leazes.

170. In closing Mr Maile [the Applicants representative] submitted that a 

number of criteria might be seen to create the required cohesiveness 

[to establish a neighbourhood]…the relevant criteria include the fact 

that “the neighbourhood/community has been in existence for many 

years; the social interaction of the community; the state of mind of the 

residents; primarily the inhabitants are from the same social class; the 

housing is of a similar age and type; and so on” I heard no evidence 

at all on any of these matters.

171. Whilst the test for a neighbourhood for the purposes of the statutory 

test is of course, as per Lord Hoffman in Oxfordshire said, deliberately 

imprecise, it still requires the fact of a neighbourhood to be established 

by evidence. It may be that there is in fact an explanation for the 

apparently inexplicable drawing of the claimed neighbourhood 

boundaries, but none was proffered in evidence and, bearing in mind 

that the onus is on the Applicant to prove that it meets each and every 

part of the statutory test, including any test directed at establishing the 

existence of a qualifying neighbourhood, I cannot conclude that the 

claimed neighbourhood is capable of being a neighbourhood for 

the purposes of this Application. It is my view that the claimed 

neighbourhood is an artificial construct for the purposes of the 

Application”.

The Inspector goes on to say at paragraph 176 of her report that “much of the 

use that I heard evidence of was what can most accurately be described as 

thoroughfare type use of the established worn paths and use ancillary or 

incidental hereto”.

Page 13



5.5 The Inspector clearly states at paragraph 172 “My conclusion in relation to the 

claimed neighbourhood is essentially, an end to the Application”. However the 

Inspector did go on to consider the other elements of Section 15 of the Act 

and stated that she found “some qualifying “as of right” use of the Application 

Land” but that she found that a substantial proportion of the use is use that 

would appear to the landowner as thoroughfare or public rights of way use 

(e.g. walking the perimeter of the field) once that use is discounted the 

Inspector was not satisfied that there was evidence of sufficient use for lawful 

sports and pastimes continuously, throughout the whole of the Application 

Period (i.e. 20 years) of the whole of the Application Land.

5.6 Members are recommended to accept the report of the Inspector and to 

determine that the Application to register land known as “Baxter’s Field”, 

Summer Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire as a town or village green be 

REJECTED and no part of the Application Land be added to the Register of 

Town and Village Greens.

6.  Background Evidence

Members may consider the background evidence in its entirety prior to this 

Committee Meeting, if required, by contacting the officer directly on the details 

below. The evidence will not be presented at the Committee Meeting given that this 

has already been heard and tested by the appointed Inspector at the inquiry and duly 

considered in her findings within her report attached.

7.  Background Papers

 Application & supporting documentation

 Objection material

 Background information and all correspondence

 The Commons Act 2006

 The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Green) (Interim 

Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007

 Ms Meager’s Report – sitting as the independent Inspector

Page 14



8. Departmental Contact

Carrie Denness – Principal Lawyer (Planning/Highways)

Corporate Team

Legal Services

Tel: 01452 328724

Email: carrie.denness@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 15

mailto:carrie.denness@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



	   1	  

 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

 

 

AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS BAXTER’S FIELD, 

SUMMER STREET, STROUD, GLOUCESTERSHIRE, 

AS A NEW TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 

 

 

 

 

REPORT 

 

OF ROWENA MEAGER (INSPECTOR) 

 

Dated 1 December 2014 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire County Council 

Legal Services 

Quayside House 

Quay Street 

Gloucester 

GL1 2TZ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



	   2	  

1. I have prepared this report following an application (“the 

Application”) received by Gloucestershire County Council (“the 

Council”), as Commons Registration Authority, to register land known 

as Baxter’s Field, Summer Street, Stroud, (“the Application Land”) as a 

new town or village green (“TVG”) pursuant to section 15(2) of the 

Commons Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”). The Application was made on 4 

January 2013 by the Summer Street Open Space Group (“the 

Applicant”). The Application was the subject of a non-statutory public 

inquiry over which I presided from Monday 15 September 2014 to 

Thursday 18 September 2014, held at the Subscription Rooms, 

Kendrick Street, Stroud, GL5 1AE. 

 

2. At the Inquiry the Applicant was represented by Chris Maile. The 

owner of the most substantial parcel of the area of land the subject of 

this Application (“the Application Land”), registered at HM Land 

Registry under Title No GR136912 and described therein as “land lying 

to the north of Summer Street, Stroud” (“the FODL Land”), Four Oaks 

Development Limited, (“the Objector”) was represented by Douglas 

Edwards QC.  

 

3. There are two further small parcels of land, relative to the overall area 

of the Application Land, that along with the Objector’s land make up 

the whole of the Application Land. One is a small square of land 

situated at the South-Western corner and outside the physical 

boundaries of the FODL Land, registered at HM Land Registry under 

Title No GR348785. This is owned by Western Power Distribution 

(West Midlands) Plc (“WPD”) and will be referred to hereafter as the 

“WPD Land”. A written objection on behalf of WPD, dated 20 June 

2014, was received by the Council wherein it was submitted that the 

Application fails to meet the statutory requirements of section 15(2) of 

the 2006 Act on a number of grounds. WPD did not, however, 

participate in the inquiry process. 

Page 32



	   3	  

 

4. The third parcel of land that makes up the remainder of the 

Application Land is a strip of land, adjacent to the Eastern boundary of 

the WPD Land, running part way along the Southern boundary and 

outside the physical boundary of the FODL Land. This land is 

unregistered and the owner of it has not been identified or located. It 

has, according to the evidence I have seen and heard, been used 

throughout the relevant period for parking vehicles. I will, therefore, 

refer to it within this report as the “Parking Land”. 

 

THE APPLICATION LAND 

 

5. The Application Land is irregular in shape and slopes relatively 

steeply from South to North, away from Summer Street. There is no 

public right of away (“PROW”) traversing the Application Land but 

there is a PROW that runs adjacent to and for the full length of the 

Eastern boundary, connecting Summer Street to Slad Road.  

 

6. The main part of the Application Land, the FODL Land, extends to 

9.123 acres (or 3.92 ha) and comprises two fields that are separated by a 

hedge that runs East to West across the full width of the land. At the 

time of my site visit the terrain was largely rough, tussocky grassland 

with some fairly significant areas of nettle and scrub growth. 

 

7. The FODL is largely enclosed by hedges and fencing with the 

exception, currently, of two points of entry which became known as 

points A and B. Point A is an open gateway in the North-Eastern 

corner, leading onto the FODL Land from the PROW. Point B is an 

opening in the South-Western corner of the FODL Land, access to 

which is gained by walking off Summer Street across the WPD Land. 

 

 

Page 33



	   4	  

THE APPLICATION TO REGISTER A TVG 

 

8. The Application to register the Application Land as a TVG was made 

on 4 January 2013 pursuant to section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. The 

relevant period for the purposes of the Application is the 20 year 

period immediately preceding the date of the Application being, 

therefore, 5 January 1993 to 4 January 2013 (“the Application Period”). 

The Application was publicly advertised in accordance with the 

procedure laid down by the 2006 Act on 1 May 2013, 15 May 2013 (to 

remedy a defect in the earlier advertisement) and again on 6 May 2014 

(notification to WPD). As noted above, objections were received from 

the Objector and WPD. 

 

9. Section 15 of the 2006 Act provides, in so far as it is relevant to this 

Application: 

 

“15 Registration of greens 

(1) Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

(2) This subsection applies where – 

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.” 

 

10. In order to succeed in an application to have land registered as a new 

TVG each and every part of the statutory test must be satisfied. 

 

 

 

Page 34



	   5	  

THE STATUTORY TEST 

 

… a significant number … 

 

11. “Significant” does not mean that a considerable or substantial number 

of people must have made TVG type use of the land. It simply means 

that the number of people using the land in question has to have been 

sufficient to indicate to the landowner that the land has been in general 

use by the local community for informal recreation as distinct from 

occasional use by individuals as trespassers1. It is not necessary for the 

recreational users to come predominantly from the relevant locality or 

neighbourhood2. However, only recreational users from the relevant 

locality or neighbourhood will contribute to the “significant user” test. 

 

… of the inhabitants of any locality … 

 

12. A “locality” must be an area known to the law such as a borough, 

parish or manor3. It cannot be created by simply drawing a line on a 

map4.  

 

… or of any neighbourhood within a locality … 

 

13. A “neighbourhood” need not be a recognised administrative unit. A 

housing estate can be a neighbourhood 5 , as can a single road 6 . 

However, a neighbourhood cannot be just any area drawn on a map. It 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
1 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin), para [77]. 
2 R (on the application of Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust) v 
Oxford County Council [2010] EWHC 530. 
3 Ministry of Defence v Wiltshire County Council [1995] 4 All ER 931, 937. 
4 R (Cheltenham Builders Limited) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85, paras 
[41] – [48]. 
5 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin). 
6 R (on the application of Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust) v 
Oxford County Council [2010] EWHC 530. 

Page 35



	   6	  

has generally been accepted that it must have some degree of 

cohesiveness7. Furthermore, its boundaries must be ascertainable given 

that the effect of registration as a new TVG is to confer upon the 

inhabitants of the locality or neighbourhood relied upon general 

recreational rights8. It is, therefore, necessary to be able to identify 

those who are possessed of the right to use the land and those post-

registration users who continue to be trespassers and against whom 

the landowner would be entitled to bring proceedings. A 

neighbourhood need not be within a single locality and an applicant 

can rely upon more than one neighbourhood9. 

 

14. The cases have provided some guidance on the approach to be adopted 

when considering whether or not an area identified for the purposes of 

a TVG application crosses the ‘neighbourhood threshold’. Lord 

Hoffmann in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council [2006] 2 

AC 674, para [27], observed that “’[A]ny neighbourhood within a locality’ 

is obviously drafted with a deliberate imprecision which contrasts with the 

insistence of the old law upon a locality defined by legally significant 

boundaries …”. In R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire DC 

[2003] EWHC 2803 (Admin); [2004] 1 EGLR 85 Sullivan J (as he then 

was) identified the need for a neighbourhood to have a “sufficient 

degree of cohesiveness” at para [85] of his judgment. However, there was 

no elaboration in the judgment as to what might constitute 

“cohesiveness”.  

 

15. The question what constitutes a neighbourhood was revisited in Leeds 

Group Plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWHC 810 (Ch) by HHJ Behrens 

sitting as a High Court Judge who, at para [36] of his judgment, set out 

the approach that had been adopted by the Inspector, with which he 

approved, as follows: 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
7 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin). 
8 Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council & Another [2006] 2 AC 674. 
9 Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council [2011] 2 WLR 1010.  

Page 36



	   7	  

 

“[36] In paragraphs 13.25 to 13.32 [the Inspector] considered the relevant 

law. In so doing he referred to the observations of Lord Hoffmann in the 

Oxfordshire case, the dicta of Sullivan J (as he then was) in the Cheltenham 

Builders case [2004] JPL 975 at 996 and the definition of ‘neighbourhood’ in 

the Shorter English Dictionary. In paragraph 13.31 he expressed the view that 

on the ordinary understanding of the word in an urban context a 

neighbourhood is often just a collection of streets where people live near to 

each other. In paragraph 13.32 he expressed concern over the requirement 

(expressed in the dicta of Sullivan J) that a neighbourhood must have a 

sufficient degree of cohesiveness. After pointing out the possible conflict 

between these dicta and Lord Hoffmann’s reference to the ‘deliberate 

imprecision of the term’ and after giving examples of what in his view 

Parliament cannot have intended to be a necessary ingredient of a 

neighbourhood he went on to say: 

 

It seems to me that the ‘cohesiveness’ point cannot in reality 

mean much more, in an urban context, than that a 

neighbourhood would normally be an area where people might 

reasonably regard themselves as living in the same portion or 

district of the town, as opposed (say) to a disparate collection 

of pieces of residential development which had been ‘cobbled 

together’ just for the purposes of making a town or village 

green claim”. 

 

16. At paragraph 103 of his judgment HHJ Behrens then says “I shall not 

myself attempt a definition of the word ‘neighbourhood’. It is, as the Inspector 

said, an ordinary English word and I have set out part of the Oxford English 

Dictionary definition. I take into account the guidance of Lord Hoffmann in 

paragraph 27 of the judgment in the Oxfordshire case. The word 

neighbourhood is deliberately imprecise. As a number of judges have said it 

was the clear intention of Parliament to make easier the registration of Class C 

Page 37



	   8	  

TVGs. In my view Sullivan J’s references to cohesiveness have to be read in 

the light of these considerations”. 

 

17. Ultimately, whether or not the claimed neighbourhood satisfies the 

statutory test is a matter for an Inspector to be assessed by reference to 

the evidence produced in support of the existence of a neighbourhood. 

 

… have indulged as of right … 

 

18. User “as of right” means user that has been without force, without 

secrecy and without permission (traditionally referred to by lawyers as 

nec vi, nec clam, nec precario). The basis for the creation of rights through 

such user is that the landowner has acquiesced in the exercise of the 

right claimed (in the case of applications to register a new TVG the 

period of user required is twenty years)10 and the user can rely upon 

their long use to support a claim to the right enjoyed.  

 

19. The landowner cannot, of course, be regarded as having acquiesced in 

user unless that user would appear to the reasonable landowner to be 

an assertion of the right claimed11. User is, therefore, “as of right” if it 

would appear to the reasonable landowner to be the assertion of a legal 

right. If the user is by force, is secret, or is by permission, (ie vi, clam, or 

precario) it will not have the appearance to the reasonable landowner of 

the assertion of a legal right to use the land. 

 

20.  “Force” is not limited to physical force. User is by force not only if it 

involves the breaking down of fences or gates but also if it is user that 

is contentious or persisted in under protest (including in the face of 

prohibitory signage) from the landowner12.  

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
10 Dalton v Angus & Co (1881) 6 App Cas 740, 773. 
11 R (Lewis) v Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council [2009] 1 WLR 1461. 
12 Smith v Brudenell-Bruce [2002] 2 P & CR 4. 

Page 38



	   9	  

 

21. User that is secret or by stealth will not constitute user as of right 

because such use would not come to the attention of the landowner 

and he could not, therefore, be said to have acquiesced in such use. 

 

22. Use that is permissive is ‘by right’ and in light of the recent decision of 

the Supreme Court in R (on the application of Barkas) v North Yorkshire 

County Council and Another [2014] UKSC 31, the earlier decision in R 

(Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2004] 1 AC 889 that appeared to 

accept that the possibility that even use that on the face of it might 

appear to be permissive was also capable of constituting use ‘as of 

right’ is no longer to be relied upon. The question to be addressed 

regarding whether or not use was permissive needs to be looked at in 

the context of each case, particularly if the relevant land is held 

pursuant to statutory purposes. However, that is not the case in the 

present Application and I need elaborate upon it no further. 

 

23. Is well established that use by the landowner alongside use by 

recreational users will not automatically prevent land qualifying for 

registration as a new TVG if the co-existing uses are not incompatible 

with each other13. Again, that is not an issue in this Application. 

 

… in lawful sports and pastimes on the land … 

 

24. The term “lawful sports and pastimes” is a composite phrase that 

includes informal recreation such as walking, with or without dogs, 

and children playing14. It does not, however, include walking of such 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
13 R (Lewis) v Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council [2010] 2 AC 70. 
14 R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335, 356F-
357E. 

Page 39



	   10	  

character as would give rise to a presumption of dedication of a right 

of way15. 

 

… for a period of at least twenty years … 

 

25. In the case of an application under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act the 

relevant period is the twenty year period immediately preceding the 

application, the final day of the period being that upon which the 

application is made. In the present case the relevant application period, as 

noted above, is 5 January 1993 to 4 January 2013. 

 

PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

26. The burden of proof that the Application Land meets the statutory 

criteria for registration as a new TVG lies with the Applicant. It is no 

trivial matter for a landowner to have land registered as a TVG and all 

the elements required to establish a new green must be “properly and 

strictly proved”16. The standard of proof is the usual civil standard of 

proof on the balance of probabilities. 

 

27. An application will not be defeated by drafting errors or defects in the 

application form17. The issue for the Commons Registration Authority 

is whether or not the application land has become a new TVG by virtue 

of all the components of the statutory test being met. 

 

 

 

 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
15 Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council & Another [2004] Ch 253, paras [96]-[105]. 
16 R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed (1996) 75 P & CR 102, 111, per Pill LJ, approved by 
Lord Bingham in R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council, para [2]. 
17 Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council & Another [2006] 2 AC 674.  

Page 40



	   11	  

EVIDENCE FOR THE APPLICANT GIVEN ORALLY 

 

28. Having set out the law as it relates to the test for registration of a new 

TVG I now turn to consider the witness evidence produced on behalf 

of the Applicant. I will deal first with the witness evidence given orally 

to the public inquiry and which was subjected to cross examination by 

the Objector. I will summarise the evidence that I heard in the order in 

which the witnesses gave their evidence. However, what follows is not 

intended to be a verbatim account, or even necessarily a complete 

account, of the evidence given to the inquiry. It is simply a précis of 

some of the more salient issues dealt with in evidence that is intended 

to be sufficient for the Council to understand the reasons and 

reasoning behind my conclusions. 

 

Brian Smith 

 

29. Brian Smith lives at 101 Summer Street and he previously lived at 22 

Summer Street. He has lived in Summer Street since 1976. He 

produced a witness statement (jointly with Zona Smith) dated 10 July 

2014 (“1st WS”), a further witness statement in his sole name dated 16 

August 2014 (“2nd WS”), an evidence questionnaire (“EQ”) dated 17 

December 2012 and a further evidence statement (“ES”) dated 4 

September 2013. Exhibited to his 1st WS are a number of documents, 

many of which are concerned with issues pertaining to the planning 

history relating to the Application Land and the campaign to register it 

as a new TVG. Exhibited to his 2nd WS are a number of photographs 

taken on 17 April 2014 (outside the Application Period). It is worth 

noting at this stage that the planning history in relation to the land is 

largely irrelevant unless submissions made in objection to any 

Page 41



	   12	  

planning application claimed that the land should not be developed 

because it had been in general recreational use. 

 

30. In his EQ Mr Smith indicated that he had known the Application Land 

at that time for 36 years and that he used it for dog walking and 

collecting sloes. In his ES he says that he first used it for recreation in 

1985. He also stated that his immediate family still uses the Application 

Land for dog walking. In his 1st WS Mr Smith tells me that he has 

owned a dog since 2006 (so that became two dogs in 2007) within the 

Application Period (he owned dogs prior to that too). 

 

31. As well as dog walking for the last 7 years or so (and, according to his 

oral evidence, dog training because his second dog had not been 

properly trained or socialised before he acquired it at the age of about 

13 months although that dog has since progressed to a considerable 

standard, attaining “very highly commended” at Crufts) of the 

Application Period Mr Smith says in his 1st WS that he would take 

regular walks on the Application Land with is daughter, Lisa (born 

January 1983), until her early teens (mid 1990s) and that when she got 

older she would play with her friends on the Application Land. I do 

not know what the frequency of those activities was. 

 

32.  During Mr Smith’s evidence it became apparent that the term 

“Baxter’s Field” was referable to a more extensive parcel of land that 

just the Application Land. It formed part of a larger farming estate 

until it was sold to FODL in 1987. It was Mr Smith’s evidence that 

animals were grazed on the Application Land when it formed part of 

the larger Baxter’s Field land holding and that after its disposal to 

FODL a single annual hay crop was taken during the period, although 

he did not elaborate upon when. He also accepted that after the 

cessation of agricultural use the Application Land gradually reverted 

to its natural state. 

Page 42



	   13	  

 

33. Mr Smith was taken during cross-examination to a series of aerial 

photographs dating back to 1999, 2005 and 2008. He agreed that over 

the course of that time a series of paths had been worn around the 

Application Land through regular use and he made the point that in 

the 2005 photograph more paths were evident than in the earlier one. 

Also, he noted that paths come and go and when one looks at the 

photographs one sees paths appear and disappear. He did, however, 

accept that there is a clear consistency across the aerial photographs of 

the principal paths on the Application Land. 

 

34. On the subject of access points it was Mr Smith’s evidence that at 

access point A (in the North-Eastern corner) the gate that might once 

have prevented open access from the PROW to the Application Land 

had been in its present state of disrepair (and not in situ) since the late 

1980s or early 1990s. He did not recall if prior to that the gate was 

closed because his normal point of entry was, at that earlier time, from 

Summer Street by Rose Cottage, through an entrance that became 

known during the inquiry as access point C. That entrance to the FODL 

Land was blocked by the All Saints development, which was carried 

out at some time around 2004 or 2005 having been granted planning 

permission in about 2003.  

 

35. It seemed to be common ground by the end of the inquiry that, as Mr 

Smith said, access point C required one to go onto the property of Rose 

Cottage. It was also common ground that there was a change in 

ground level between the land of Rose Cottage and the FODL Land but 

the extent of that differential was never fully resolved. Mr Smith did 

say he understood the slope to be quite steep as he believed a crop of 

hay had tipped off a tractor when exiting through access point C. 

 

Page 43



	   14	  

36. After access point C was blocked off Mr Smith said access point B, in 

the South-Western corner, became more well used and that was the 

only point of general access off Summer Street thereafter, save for the 

gates in the rear boundaries of some of the All Saints properties. 

 

37. What appeared to be clear was that there was old chain link fencing 

either side of the access at point B. Mr Smith said it was “blatantly 

obvious” that there would, at one time, have been an intact fence along 

the entirety of the boundary through which access point B had been 

created. What he did not assist with is how that access point came to be 

created although he did agree it was likely that someone other than the 

landowner had “interfered” with the fence line at some point. He did 

also agree that local residents had installed the safety hand-rail at that 

access point although he was unable to say when that had happened. 

 

38. In relation to the Parking Land Mr Smith’s evidence was that he had 

parked there when he lived at 22 Summer Street. He also said he did 

not think that the Parking Land had been used for lawful sports and 

pastimes. He simply said that when asked to define the area of the 

Application Land “it made sense to include that” as it was a straight line 

on the plan. In re-examination Mr Smith did, however, make reference 

to the fact that someone had put a bird table on the Parking Land and 

created a “little garden”. 

 

39. When asked during re-examination to quantify the percentage of dog 

walkers that used the worn paths as distinct from the Application Land 

generally Mr Smith said that he did not know what percentage of users 

did what. 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



	   15	  

Shawn Jarrett 

 

 

40.  Shawn Jarrett lives in Summer Street. She moved there in March 2012 

so her experience of the Application Land is restricted to the latter 9 or 

10 months of the Application Period. She produced a witness 

statement dated 2 July 201 (I think that must have meant 2014). 

 

41.  Ms Jarrett uses the Application Land for dog walking and fruit 

picking. She told the inquiry that she generally enters the Application 

Land from the PROW at point A, does a circuit of the land and then 

exits at point B. She said she primarily uses the “top field” (ie the most 

southerly one, closest to the houses on Summer Street) but she does 

use the other one too.  

 

42. Ms Jarrett does not have a dog of her own but she looks after her son’s 

dog when he is away working. That can be for the weekend to periods 

of around 2 weeks to a month and she said it occurs 3 or 4 times a year. 

When she has the dog she told the inquiry she goes to the Application 

Land about twice a day but she said she tends to stick to the worn 

paths.  

 

43. She also goes to the Application Land to forage for elderflowers, 

elderberries, blackberries, mushrooms and holly in the winter. She said 

that when she does not have the dog she goes less often but I did not 

get a clear impression of how often that was. Ms Jarrett said that she 

sometimes uses the PROW to access the Slad Valley. 

 

44. When on the Application Land Ms Jarrett said she saw other people. 

According to her evidence some dog walkers stuck to the paths and 

others did not. She also said that children tend not to stick to the path. 

Page 45



	   16	  

She has seen people with balls and Frisbees but could not say what 

percentage of people did so. 

 

45. Finally, Ms Jarrett embellished what she had said in her written 

statement about the friendliness of Summer Street. She said that she 

considered it to be a neighbourhood and it was her neighbourhood. 

What I did not gather from her evidence was what she considered the 

boundary or extent of “her neighbourhood” to be. She was not taken, for 

example, to the neighbourhood map and invited to provide her 

evidence with specific reference to the claimed neighbourhood. 

 

 

Lindsay Gray 

 

 

46. Lindsay Gray lives at 46 Summer Street and has done so since October 

2011. During her oral evidence she told the inquiry that between June 

2004 and December 2006 she had lived at 30 Summer Street. She 

produced a witness statement dated 28 July 2014 and an EQ dated 15 

December 2012. 

 

47. Ms Gray has a six year old daughter and she told the inquiry that she 

was attracted to the area by its proximity to open space. She said that 

she had used the Application Land over the past 10 years (although for 

some of that time she was not resident in the claimed neighbourhood 

and her use would not, at those times, have contributed to establishing 

qualifying use) and that it is a place where she and her daughter take a 

regular evening walk around twice a week in the summer (that use has 

increased as her daughter has got older, from about once a week 

according to her earlier EQ). In her written evidence she explained her 

usual route, which is circular, following the paths (both the more 

Page 46



	   17	  

established ones and what look like animal tracks), entering at access 

point A and exiting at point B. She uses both fields. 

 

48. In her oral evidence Ms Gray said that at the time of her earlier period 

of residence in Summer Street the All Saints development had already 

been built. She said the access points onto the Application Land are the 

same now as they were at that time but the condition of the land is 

now “slightly more wild”. 

 

49. Ms Gray told the inquiry that during her earlier period of residence she 

would have used the Application Land less regularly, just to have a 

walk and sometimes to sit and enjoy it, her use being more reflective.  

 

50. Whilst on the Application Land Ms Gray said she did see other people 

although not often as she and her daughter tend to go there at dusk, so 

quite late, instead of following a traditional bath and bedtime regime. 

She said she may see possibly one or two other people, walking or 

foraging. 

 

51. Ms Gray also told the inquiry in both her written and oral evidence 

that there had been a bonfire night celebration on the Application Land 

on 5 November 2011. She did not attend but it was apparently held 

directly behind the All Saints development. 

 

52. As well as using the land for general walking with her daughter Ms 

Gray also said that she collected elderflowers and blackberries in 

season. She said that the central hedgerow dividing the Application 

Land is one of the areas where fruit can be founds as well as the 

hedgerow between the Application Land and the PROW. She told the 

inquiry she had foraged (predominantly for elderflowers) along both 

sides of the Application Land / PROW boundary, once a year. Ms 

Gray also confirmed that the central hedgerow, where there were 

Page 47



	   18	  

predominantly blackberries, had a path running close to the line of the 

hedge. 

 

 

Eric Jarrett 

 

 

53. Mr Jarrett lives at 129 Summer Street having moved to that address in 

2002. He produced a witness statement dated 5 June 2014 and an EQ 

dated 14 December 2012.  

 

54. In his written evidence Mr Jarrett said that he did not begin to use the 

Application Land until 2005. Since then he has used it, approximately 

monthly, for walking and in pursuit of his interest in botany. He said 

that he tended to go to the Application Land when “disturbance [by 

others] was likely to be at a minimum” and he said that the sort of things 

that he would be looking for do not grow by the paths. He told the 

inquiry that the most Northerly field is the most interesting as it is 

furthest away from Summer Street. He agreed when it was put to him 

that he would walk along a path until something attracted his interest 

and then stray off the worn path to look at it that that was a “fair 

assessment” of his manner of use. 

 

55. The points of access that Mr Jarrett has used are access points A and B. 

He said that construction of the All Saints development was underway 

at the time he started to use the Application Land so access point C had 

by then disappeared. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



	   19	  

Lorraine Florek 

 

 

56. Mrs Florek lives at 10 Summer Street where she has resided since 1989. 

She has produced a joint witness statement with Michael Florek dated 

10 July 2014 and a joint ES with Michael Florek dated 4 September 

2013. 

 

57.  Over the period her use of the Application Land and that of her family 

has been for walking, dog walking and children’s recreation (with and 

without parents). Mrs Florek owned a dog between 2002 and 2013 and 

her children were born in 1995 and 1998.  

 

58. Prior to having a dog it was Mr Florek’s evidence that she would walk 

on the Application Land a couple of times a week. When walking the 

dog, she said she would follow the worn paths and the dog would run 

off wherever it pleased. She said she would sometimes walk around by 

herself and sometimes with others, having a chat. 

 

59. The children would play on the Application Land. They would play 

ball games, hide and seek and build and play in dens. Ball games 

would be played on the areas worn down by people and were mainly 

in the earlier part of the period before the land became so overgrown. 

Mrs Florek recalled that some children had mowed an area of the 

Application Land in the area between access points B and C to facilitate 

the playing of ball games. I was not told exactly when that was.  

 

60. Mrs Florek said her children built dens between the ages of about 4 

and 12 (so that would be between the years of about 1999 and 2010). 

She said that they would go to the Application Land about 2 or 3 times 

per week in the summer holidays but not as frequently during school 

term time. 

Page 49



	   20	  

 

61. Mrs Florek also said the children would fly a kite on the Application 

Land about once a week when they were young. Bicycles were ridden 

on the Application Land but she agreed that the main opportunity for 

that activity was on the routes worn by people. 

 

62. In addition to the foregoing Mrs Florek said she would collect 

blackberries from the Application Land about two or three times a 

year. She agreed that the hedgerow between the two fields was good 

for foraging and she said also at access point B. 

 

63. Mrs Florek used to enter the Application Land at access point C before 

the All Saints development was built. The gate there was always open. 

She said she knew Mr Underwood, the owner of Rose Cottage, but was 

never actually sure if it was his land that she was crossing to get into 

the Application Land. She said “everyone used it”. 

 

64. Since access point C became unavailable Mrs Florek used access point 

B. She said that access point was there before point C became 

unavailable but became more well used thereafter. She does not recall 

ever having seen a fence across the point of access at B or even the 

broken fence either side of the path there. 

 

 

Oliver Florek 

 

 

65. Oliver Florek, the eldest son of Lorraine Florek (the previous witness), 

also lives at 10 Summer Street and he produced a signed but undated 

witness statement. Attached to that statement is a plan that identifies 

the area of land that was mown to facilitate games and the location of 

Page 50



	   21	  

the den which is within the hedgerow that separates the two fields on 

the Application Land. 

 

66. Oliver Florek was 19 years old at the time of his statement and his 

recollection of using the Application Land with his parents began 

when he was about 4 years old. He says he used the land between 

around 2000 and 2008 for walking the dog, playing ball games, hide 

and seek, riding bikes, flying kites, building dens, mountain or kite 

boarding, picking blackberries and sledging in winter. He played there 

with his friends and said he spent many hours in the den he built with 

his peers. 

 

67. When asked about the other children that played there he mentioned 4 

Coysh children, himself and his sibling, and a couple of girls that he 

did not name. He said there were about 9 children within 10 metres of 

the Application Land that made up different groups that played 

separately. He also mentioned friends from school played there. 

 

68. Prior to access point C becoming unavailable that is the place that he 

most regularly entered the Application Land. Since then he has used 

point A and point B, depending upon the direction from which he is 

entering the land. 

 

69. Of his den building Oliver said that in the summer he would go 

regularly during the summer holidays, anywhere between twice and 4 

times per week. He said that he still cycles over there but now it tends 

to be from access point B to A. He said he undertook mountain 

boarding between about 2008 and 2011, mainly in the winter when the 

undergrowth tends to be flatter and there is less of a need to stick to 

the paths. Of sledging he said he would go once or twice a year 

depending upon the weather. 

 

Page 51



	   22	  

Jennifer Pitt 

 

 

70. Mrs Pitt lives at Birchwood, 85 Summer Street, and has done so since 

1982. She produced a witness statement dated 8 July 2014 and an EQ 

dated 12 December 2012.  

 

71. Whilst Mrs Pitt has been a long term resident of Summer Street she has 

only been using the Application Land herself since 2005 for walking 

her daughter’s dog when she has the dog to look after. In terms of 

frequency Mrs Pitt said that she would, on average, have her 

daughter’s dog on 4 or 5 weekends each year and for a week at a time 

once or twice a year. When walking the dog she said she would enter 

at point B, use the path to point A, but would always walk around the 

bottom field too. She would let the dog off the lead. 

 

72. Whilst Mrs Pitt’s house is close to the Application Land depending 

upon the level of tree foliage, her view is partially restricted. She can 

see the Application Land better from her upstairs windows. Mrs Pitt 

mentioned that she can see people on the land but I am not sure when 

or if that is throughout the whole period. She said she could not recall 

seeing Oliver Florek out there. 

 

73. Mrs Pitt said that over the years the Application Land has deteriorated 

and this means that people do not cover such a big area when they use 

it. She also has no recollection of ever having seen livestock on the 

Application Land throughout the period that she has known it. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



	   23	  

Herbert Thomas 

 

 

74. Mr Thomas lives at 127 Summer Street and has done so since 

December 1980. There was a short period of about 2 to 3 years when he 

was absent during the early 1990s. He has produced a witness 

statement dated 9 June 2014 and an EQ dated 12 December 2012. 

 

75. Mr Thomas said that his use of the Application Land started in around 

1995 or later. Prior to that he said he had no need to walk in this area. 

He said that in the 2000s the field was relatively easy to traverse but in 

his opinion the numbers of users had dropped as the land had become 

more overgrown. 

 

76. Mr Thomas’s own use of the land has been for dog walking (his own 

dog until 2008 and dogs he has looked after for friends subsequently, 

once or twice a year for up to a fortnight at a time) and taking his 

grandchildren there, infrequently, in the 1990s to pick wild flowers and 

play. He said that he would generally enter the land at access point A 

(although he said he had used point B) and indicated that his route 

from there would be along the central hedgerow and into the bottom 

field. Mr Thomas did not recall ever having seen a gate at point A 

although he said there was some metal either side of the gap that looks 

more like fencing. 

 

77. In relation to other people’s activity he said that quite a lot of the 

activity he had seen involving children had tended to be around the 

All Saints development. He said it is not visible any more. He said he 

had seen children playing and people foraging but that he tended not 

to go up near the new development as he felt it was a bit intrusive. He 

did say he had seen at least 2 sets of steps leading out of the rear 

Page 53



	   24	  

boundaries of those new properties onto the Application Land. He also 

said that he regularly met other dog walkers on the land. 

 

78. Mr Thomas gave evidence about a sign that he had seen on the 

Northern boundary and to which he refers at paragraph 7 of his 

witness statement. He said that there had been an earlier sign saying 

something like “Private – Keep Out” before the existing sign. The 

current sign is visible from the Application Land and is referable to the 

field adjoining, as was the last one. 

 

 

Sue Haydock 

 

 

79. Mrs Haydock lives at 71 Summer Street (since November 2002) but 

previously lived at 8 Summer Street (1994 – 2002) and prior to that in 

Summer Crescent (1990 – 1994). She has lived in Summer Street for 23 

years. She has provided a witness statement dated 28 June 2014 and an 

EQ dated 7 January 2013. Her current property backs onto and has 

direct access onto the Application Land. A number of photographs are 

exhibited to her statement showing the gate that sits in her rear 

boundary fence. 

 

80. During the period 1995 to 2012 Mrs Haydock had a dog and the 

Application Land was her main dog walking area. She has also taken 

her grandchildren (aged 12 and 10 at the time of the inquiry) onto the 

Application Land although less so in the recent past.  

 

81. Whilst Mrs Haydock has access to the land from her own garden she 

said that for a couple of months each year it becomes too overgrown to 

use that access. She said it is easier in the winter months when the 

vegetation has died down. When she has been unable to use her own 

Page 54



	   25	  

boundary entrance she has tended to use access point A. She said she 

has used B but it is overgrown, muddy and stony. Prior to the All 

Saints development she said that access point C was a much nicer 

point of entry. It was wider and she said there was a nice clump of 

blackberry bushes there. 

 

82. Mrs Haydock confirmed that there are elderflowers in the central 

hedgerow that divides the Application Land and sloes too. 

 

83. Of other peoples’ use Mrs Haydock said that on a sunny evening she 

may see 4 or 5 people on the Application Land. She said she had been 

the evening before the inquiry (before dark) and seen 2 people. She 

did, however, say that she had seen up to 8 or 10 people on the 

Application Land. What I do not know is how often, when, who they 

were and what they were doing. 

 

 

Marion Powell 

 

 

84. Marion Powell has lived at 80 Summer Street since May 1984. She 

produced a witness statement dated 12 July 2014 and an EQ dated 11 

December 2012. 

 

85. Mrs Powell has used the Application Land throughout the Application 

Period for dog walking (daughter’s dog which has been next door for 7 

years and son’s dog over the last 18 months), walking on the paths, 

playing with children and grandchildren. 

 

86. In 1993, at the beginning of the Application Period, Mrs Powell’s 

children were aged 15, 12, 9 and 7. She said that her period of use of 

the land with her children was until the mid part or end of the 1990s. 

Page 55



	   26	  

She would take them for a walk and to let off steam about once a week. 

She said they normally took a football, would play hide and seek and 

being children they would make up their own entertainment. Mrs 

Powell said she would take other children to the Application Land too 

that she was looking after but she said that would have been in the 

1980s.  

 

87. Mrs Powell now takes her grandchildren to the Application Land. She 

has 7 of them, the eldest having just turned 13 (in November). I got 

very little sense of how much Mrs Powell has used the Application 

Land in the recent past with her grandchildren. She did say that she no 

longer takes a ball there because of the condition of the land and that 

her granddaughter likes to play hide and seek. However, I have no 

clear idea of her pattern of use now and over the last few years or if 

there was a gap between Mrs Powell’s use of the land during her 

childrens’ time and her grandchildrens’ time. 

 

88. Mrs Powell generally accessed the Application Land mainly from point 

A but if there were horses in the field over which the PROW went and 

she had a dog with her she would use access point B. She has no 

recollection of any gate at access point A. Nor does she recall any 

animals being grazed on the Application Land. 

 

 

Tina Pentney 

 

 

89. Ms Pentney moved to 26 Summer Street in May 2008. She has 

produced a witness statement dated 14 June 2014, a letter dated 11 

December 2012, an EQ dated 10 December 2012 and an ES dated 30 

August 2013. 

 

Page 56



	   27	  

90. In her EQ Ms Pentney says that she or her family use the Application 

Land daily for dog walking. She also says that she or her family have 

had (a) picnic(s) in the summer. She enters the land at access point B 

usually although she does say that she has entered at point A. She 

walks her dogs along the well worn paths. 

 

91. Under cross-examination Ms Pentney said she had not had a picnic on 

the land. She was not asked if any member of her family had but she 

did not say that they had. She said that she had seen families having 

picnics and that she had met a lady last year who told her she had 

grown up there and had had picnics. I do not know when that was. 

When asked how frequently this year she had seen people have picnics 

she said a few times this year but as the grass gets longer it is not so 

possible. 

 

92. When asked about other activities she had seen on the Application 

Land Ms Pentney referred to other dog walkers, people collecting 

blackberries and sloes and children she had seen building a den in the 

central hedgerow. She said that she often meets other dog walkers 

during her 2 or 3 visits to the Application Land each day to walk her 

own dogs. At weekends she said she has seen children playing 

including 2 children she had seen with a puppy. 

 

93. Ms Pentney also gave evidence that she had parked her car regularly 

on the Parking Land. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



	   28	  

John Williams 

 

 

94. Mr Williams has lived at 12 Summer Street since 1997. He produced a 

witness statement dated 15 July 2014, an EQ dated 23 December 2012 

and an ES dated 27 August 2013. 

 

95. Mr Williams says that he and his wife have used the Application Land 

throughout their period of residence in Summer Street on a daily basis 

for dog walking. He now uses the entrance at access point B but used 

to use the access at point C before it was blocked off by the All Saints 

development. He told me that he was not aware of the point B access 

whilst he was using point C. 

 

96. At point C he said that the access was level off the road but then 

inclined down as one entered the field. He said tractors had entered 

the Application Land at that point and he recalled having seen the land 

cut twice, the second time by Smith’s contractors from Easington. It 

was put to him that the Objector’s evidence was that it had been cut 

once in 1990 but he was very adamant that it had been cut twice. He 

said they had had trouble getting in because of the narrowness of the 

road.  

 

97. When asked if Mr Williams recalled there having been fencing across 

the access at point B he said not until Mr McNally went there recently 

with a strimmer and cut some of the hedgerow away, revealing the 

fence that was concealed by the overgrowth. Mr Williams agreed that 

prior to the construction of All Saints development the access at point 

C was the most used from Summer Street but he said that access point 

A off the PROW was more well used by those in Summer Crescent. He 

said he thought the handrail at point B had appeared only in the last 10 

years since the All Saints development had been built. 

Page 58



	   29	  

 

98. In terms of the condition of the land Mr Williams said that when it had 

been cut it had been more accessible. He agreed that there were well 

trodden paths and that substantial overgrowth had grown up in the 

fields. 

 

99. When asked about other people’s use of the Application Land he told 

the inquiry that he saw all sorts of people with dogs. Also he said that 

people would just go there and sit about in the summer. He said he 

had seen a young girl from the All Saints development there with her 

friends this summer but he did not know what they were doing. 

During the course of a day (during which he would have made 2 or 3 

visits) he said he might see 8 – 10 people. 

 

100. When I asked him about who he saw on the Application Land 

he said some were using it as a cut through to the Slad Valley, some to 

go to work and he knew of one man who went through twice a day to 

visit his mother. He said that he and his friends used to use it to access 

the pub. Of the people that he saw he said he knew some by sight; 

about half he recognised as coming from the local neighbourhood. He 

referred to someone he recognised from Chapel Street in that context 

but Chapel Street is outside the claimed neighbourhood for the 

purposes of this Application even if Mr Williams regards it as being 

within his neighbourhood. It is quite conceivable that the people he 

does not recognise are from outside the claimed neighbourhood; I 

simply do not know.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



	   30	  

Philip Coysh 

 

 

101. Mr Coysh has lived at 23 Summer Street since September 1999. 

His property is adjacent to the Application Land, right next to access 

point B. Prior to that he lived at 1 Summer Close from 1988. He has 

produced a witness statement dated 15 July 2014, an EQ dated 3 July 

2013 and an ES dated 16 September 2013. Accompanying his witness 

statement is a letter dated 15 July 2014 from former owners of 23 

Summer Street, David and Beth Carson, providing information about 

their family’s use of the land and observations of the use of others. 

 

102. Whilst Mr Coysh moved to the area in 1988 his evidence is that 

he and his family began to use the Application Land in 1999 when they 

moved to their current home. They have gained access to the land over 

the stone wall at the bottom of their garden, directly onto the 

Application Land, and also through the access at point B next to their 

home. As far as Mr Coysh is aware there has always been an access at 

point B. Further, they now gain access over a stile in their neighbour’s 

boundary. 

 

103. In his evidence questionnaire Mr Coysh said that he used the 

Application Land “occasionally”. He says therein that he and his 

family use it for, amongst other things, dog walking. It transpired in 

his oral evidence that he is not a dog owner. The reference to dog 

walking was to visiting family who bring their dog(s); his sister and 

sister-in-law. 

 

104. The main use that his family has made of the Application Land 

is for children’s play. Mr Coysh has four children and between 1999 

and 2008 approximately they used the land for, amongst other things, 

den building (near their garden boundary), flying kites, playing ball 

Page 60



	   31	  

games, sledging and general play. Mr Coysh said the children used it 

almost as an extended garden. 

 

105. In addition to use for play Mr Coysh said the Application Land 

was good for foraging. He said that the central hedgerow was good for 

blackberries. 

 

106. In respect of agricultural use Mr Coysh said the last time it was 

used for such a purpose was the spring they moved into the property. 

A hay crop was taken. He was not aware of any use of the land for 

grazing at any earlier time. 

 

107. As for the use Mr Coysh has witnessed by other people, he says 

in his statement that some of the children that came to the land to play 

were from across Stroud. Also, he made express reference to people 

driving from further afield and parking their cars in Summer Street in 

order to access the fields for their animals (presumably dogs). It is 

extremely doubtful that any of these users came from the claimed 

neighbourhood. 

 

 

GENERAL OBSERVATIONS ABOUT THE APPLICANT’S WITNESSES 

 

 

108. My general impression of the Applicant’s witnesses that gave 

oral evidence to the Inquiry was that they were straightforward and 

honest and were doing their best to recollect use of and features of the 

Application Land extending back over a considerable period. As is 

often the case the underlying written evidence that is then expanded 

upon orally proves to be extremely general and lacking in detail and 

the opportunity to hear from the witnesses first had is certainly 

helpful. However, notwithstanding having heard from 13 witnesses 

Page 61



	   32	  

called by the Applicant I was left with a very patchy account of the 

extent and frequency of the use of the Application Land throughout 

the whole of the 20 year period. 

 

109. For example, when one considers the evidence of those that did 

speak to the inquiry only 2 of the witnesses actually claimed to have 

made personal use of the land throughout the whole of the Application 

Period (Smith, Powell). Whilst a number of witnesses had lived in the 

vicinity of the Application Land throughout the period their use had 

not begun until some time within the period: L Florek (use from about 

1999), Pitt (use from 2005), Thomas (use from around 1995), Haydock 

(use from around 1995), Coysh (use from 1999). 

 

110. Further, a number of witnesses spoke of the use they saw being 

made of the Application Land by others. However, whilst some users 

were identified by name or address from which they came, many were 

not. I simply do not know whether they were users from within the 

claimed neighbourhood, as they must be to contribute to qualifying 

use, or not. By way of example, Mr Coysh made reference to users that 

appear to have come from outside the claimed neighbourhood. Also, 

Mr Williams’ evidence about other people’s use clearly included 

people that came from outside the claimed neighbourhood.  

 

111. Not only was the evidence of actual use rather generalised and 

unspecific, I did not hear evidence on issues relating to all parts of the 

statutory test. For example, I heard no evidence directed specifically to 

the question of the claimed neighbourhood (as distinct from general 

references to Summer Street, a friendly neighbourhood, the perceived 

boundaries of which were never articulated) and in fact formed the 

impression that none of the Applicant’s witnesses, save perhaps for Mr 

Smith, would have been able to tell me what the boundaries of the 

claimed neighbourhood were.  

Page 62



	   33	  

 

112. The foregoing are matters that, along with others, will become 

relevant once I make my findings of fact and apply the statutory test to 

those findings. 

 

 

WRITTEN EVIDENCE FOR THE APPLICANT 

 

 

113. In addition to the evidence of those witnesses that appeared at 

the inquiry, the Applicant also relies upon a relatively significant 

number of additional EQs and ESs. Whilst the Applicant 

acknowledged that some of the authors of those EQs live outside the 

claimed neighbourhood, the substantial majority of them do live 

within it. Some of them cover the full 20 year period and some do not. 

Further, behind tab 3 of the Applicant’s bundle were various 

photographs together with some annotations. The aerial photographs 

in particular proved helpful at the inquiry. 

 

114. It would unnecessarily lengthen this report to analyse all of the 

additional written evidence provided by way of completed EQs and 

ESs. However, I can confirm that I have read all of the written evidence 

provided in support of the Application in addition to that in respect of 

which I had the benefit of hearing first hand from the witnesses. I 

attach less weight to that evidence given that I have not had the benefit 

of hearing from those witnesses under cross-examination and also 

given the extreme generality of the information contained therein. 

 

115. Evidence such as that contained in the EQs inevitably has its 

limitations because it rarely gives a clear or comprehensive impression 

of the precise use made of the Application Land by any witness 

throughout the whole of the 20 year period. For instance, such EQs 

Page 63



	   34	  

make no provision for changing use throughout the whole period yet 

people’s circumstances inevitably change as, often, does their pattern 

of use. Such changes might include the acquisition or loss of dogs, 

having families and families growing up, going to university, retiring, 

and so on. 

 

116. As an illustration of the difficulties created by the use of such 

generalised EQs as those utilised in this case, take the EQ of Margaret 

Davis (AB/155) for example. She says she has used the fields from 1945 

to 2005. In answer to the question “to your recollection or knowledge has 

the land ever been used for agricultural purposes in the last 25 years” she has 

said “yes” and then “ever since I’ve lived here”. The evidence I heard at 

the inquiry clearly points to the fact that there has been no agricultural 

use of the Application Land for a very substantial part, if not all of the 

Application Period (I make my finding of fact on this matter below). 

Then, in answer to the question “how often do or did you use the fields” 

the answer is “every day when we had dogs”. What I do not know is 

when, if at all, during the actual Application Period this witness had 

dogs. Whilst the EQ answer at question 10 says the pattern of use has 

remained basically the same during the time the witness has used the 

land, given the obvious conflict between this witness’s answer to 

question 11 and the evidence of the Applicant’s witnesses from whom I 

have heard oral evidence, I cannot simply accept without question the 

accuracy of the answers contained therein. There is very little weight 

that I can give to evidence such as this because it really does not 

contribute much, if anything, to the Applicant’s obligation to prove 

qualifying use of the whole of the Application Land throughout the 

Application Period. 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



	   35	  

EVIDENCE FOR THE OBJECTOR GIVEN ORALLY 

 

 

117. I refer here to Objector (rather than Objectors) because the only 

evidence I heard orally in objection to the Application was made on 

behalf of Four Oaks Development Limited (“FODL”). 

 

118. I will deal with the Objector’s oral evidence in the same way 

that I have dealt with the Applicant’s. As with the foregoing, my 

review of the Objector’s evidence is intended to be nothing more than a 

précis, not a complete transcript of everything that was said by each 

witness. I will address the Objector’s evidence in the order in which it 

was presented to the Inquiry. 

 

 

Clive Baxter 

 

 

119. Mr Baxter produced a statutory declaration that was sworn on 

17 July 2013. He is the son of Douglas Baxter (“DB”), the previous 

owner of that part of the Application Land currently owned by the 

Objector. DB had acquired the land in or around 1960 and conveyed it 

to the Objector on 25 September 1987. 

 

120. The land now owned by the Objector formed part of a larger 

land holding owned by DB. Once it had been sold to the Objector DB 

retained other land adjacent to and in the vicinity of the Application 

Land. He continued to farm that land and Clive Baxter was involved in 

the family’s farming business.  

 

121. It became apparent that some of the evidence in Mr Baxter’s 

statutory declaration did not relate to the Application Land but to the 

Page 65



	   36	  

land retained by DB at the time of the sale of the Application Land to 

the Objector. Once the Application Land had been sold he did not go 

onto it to check boundaries and so on but did say he could see it from 

the retained farming land that he visited regularly until that, too, was 

sole following his father’s death. 

 

122. Much of Mr Baxter’s evidence was concerned with the extent to 

which the boundaries of the Application Land were in tact and the 

points at which access could be gained by local residents. Mr Baxter 

was adamant that at the time of the sale of the Application Land the 

gate at access point A was in tact and locked although he could not 

recall who actually locked it. Further, in his statutory declaration he 

said he thought that the gates were forcibly removed in about 1997 and 

he maintained this evidence during his oral examination. 

 

123. Mr Baxter was also pretty certain that the opening at access 

point B was not in existence at the time of sale of the Application Land 

in 1987 and was not in fact created until considerably later, possibly in 

2009. He said that until then the chain link fence attached to concrete 

posts secured the boundary between Rose Cottage and the stone wall 

forming the eastern boundary of Mr Coysh’s property at 23 Summer 

Street. 

 

124. In relation to access point C it was Mr Baxter’s evidence that 

there was never a point of access and egress there that was used by the 

public. He maintained his stance on this issue even after he was 

presented with an aerial photograph that quite clearly showed a 

definite pathway leading from point C into the Application Land.  

 

125. Mr Baxter said that following the disposition of the Application 

Land to the Objector the only farming activity that occurred thereafter 

was the taking of a hay crop and he told the inquiry that it was not 

Page 66



	   37	  

removed via access point C, but over the Baxter’s retained land across 

the PROW. He said that whilst there were no gates in that boundary 

now there had been previously and that the old gate posts would be 

likely to still be there.  

 

 

John McNally 

 

 

126. Mr McNally is a director of the Objector. He produced two 

statutory declarations, the first dated 17 July 2013 and the second dated 

12 August 2014. Exhibited to both statutory declarations were, amongst 

other things, numerous photographs to which reference during oral 

evidence was made. As noted above, the Objector acquired the 

majority of the Application Land in 1987 having purchased the same 

from DB. 

 

127. Much of Mr McNally’s written evidence in concerned with the 

security of the boundaries, the points at which the various access 

points became open thereby providing unhindered access to members 

of the public and the general state of the Application Land. 

 

128. It is Mr McNally’s evidence that at the time the land was 

acquired by FODL in 1987 all boundaries were secure and there were 

no points at which unauthorised access to the Application Land could 

be freely obtained. His evidence was that access point A was not open 

until after 1997 when trespassers broke the gates and the lock and 

chain securing the same. The lock and chain were secured by Mr 

McNally and DB at the time FODL purchased the land from DB. Mr 

McNally seemed certain it was after 1997 that the gates were broken 

because between 1995 and 1997 he said he was regularly at the land for 

purposes associated with negotiating planning permission. In apparent 

Page 67



	   38	  

contradiction to that Mr McNally agreed during cross examination that 

after he had attended the land with DB and secured the gates at access 

point A, until 1997 he rarely visited the land. 

 

129. Further, Mr McNally said that the entrance at access point B was 

not accessible until 2009, there being a six foot high, wire mesh and 

concrete post fence in place prior to that. In 2009 Mr McNally had 

become suspicious about what use was being made of the land having 

discovered 2 or 3 gates from properties in the All Saints development 

opening directly onto the land and that is when he said he checked the 

boundaries and discovered the access at point B. However, during 

cross examination it became apparent that visits to ‘check the 

boundaries’ probably did not entail a visit to point B so whilst 2009 is 

the point in time at which Mr McNally became aware of the entrance at 

point B it does not necessarily follow that that is when it was created.  

 

130. Further, Mr McNally said that prior to the All Saints 

development there was no access at point C because there was a 6 foot 

difference in ground level at the entry point to the land. He said there 

was no gate and that anyone trying to access at that point would have 

to have leapt a minimum of 6 foot to the lower level of the field. 

 

131. Having discovered the gateways from some of the rear 

boundaries of the All Saints properties directly onto the land Mr 

McNally spoke with Mark Underwood from Rose Cottage about them. 

Mr Underwood, according to Mr McNally’s evidence, said he would 

address the problem and it is understood that he went and spoke to the 

relevant owners. 

 

132. In relation to the state of the land he said that since 1990 it has 

been virtually impassable between March and the end of October due 

to the height of the grass and brambles having not been either mowed 

Page 68



	   39	  

or grazed. However, in oral evidence Mr McNally did say that he 

would not go into the fields when he was checking boundaries. 

According to Mr McNally’s evidence 1990 was the only year in which 

permission was given for a hay crop to be taken from the Application 

Land and he negotiated with DB to establish where tractors could enter 

and exit the land. 

 

133. Finally, Mr McNally told the inquiry that on the occasions he 

had been on the land he has never seen anyone on it. 

 

 

WRITTEN EVIDENCE ON BEHALF OF THE OBJECTOR 

 

 

134. In addition to the evidence that was given orally and subjected 

to cross examination the Objector relies upon some further 

photographs and the statutory declarations of Robert Bloxham and 

Niall Young together with the exhibits thereto. That evidence deals 

with use surveys undertaken by Niall Young on 4 consecutive days 

from 16th to 19th July 2014 and the findings that were recorded. 

 

135. Evidence of use outside the Application Period is of limited 

value in that it does not provide factual evidence of use at the relevant 

time. However, I have read and viewed that evidence and have had 

regard to it, attributing appropriate weight to it, in drawing my 

conclusions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



	   40	  

GENERAL OBSERVATIONS ABOUT THE OBJECTOR’S WITNESSES 

 

 

136. I formed the impression that the two witnesses who gave 

evidence in person were doing their best to assist the inquiry. 

However, it was clear to me that their ability to assist was limited 

given that their first hand experience of the Application Land during 

the Application Period was relatively limited. 

 

 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 

 

137. Three members of the public spoke to the inquiry with my 

permission. Each of them very helpfully produced a typed statement to 

which they spoke and the first two were cross examined by the 

Objector’s Counsel. The evidence they gave was as follows. 

 

 

Susan Flook 

 

 

138. Ms Flook moved to Stroud in 2010 but lived elsewhere in Stroud 

(which I understood to mean outside the claimed neighbourhood) until 

she moved to her current address in June 2012, just 6 months or 

thereabouts before the end of the Application Period. 

 

139. Ms Flook’s use of the Application Land appears to be for 3 main 

purposes: recreational walking, foraging and exercising friends’ dogs. 

The frequency of her use appeared to be around twice a week in the 

summer. She said she entered the land at access point B and would 

Page 70



	   41	  

sometimes use the land on her way into town and she would 

sometimes go into the fields, walk around it and exit again.  

 

140. It was Ms Flook’s evidence that she would not always walk on 

the tracks but she agreed that it could be quite difficult going. 

However, later in her evidence she talked about foraging in dense 

undergrowth seasonally and said she would fight her way through the 

undergrowth. She said she did not really see other people using the 

land. She often goes there early at around 7 or 8 am and does not go in 

the evenings. 

 

 

Norah Kennedy 

 

 

141. Ms Kennedy moved to Stroud, to an address within the claimed 

neighbourhood, in 2004. She has used the land throughout that period 

predominantly for dog walking and foraging (including gathering 

materials for her business making baskets). She has had a dog 

throughout the time of her residence save for the last 5 months. She 

tends to enter the Application Land at access point A, follow the 

hedgerow and she said that she often followed the route from point A 

to point B and sometimes went into the lower field and round that. 

This is something that Ms Kennedy does on most days. 

 

142. Whilst using the land Ms Kennedy said that she has seen other 

people there. She has seen children playing and making dens, other 

walkers and dog walkers and even people practising tai chi and yoga. 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



	   42	  

Emma Ordonez 

 

 

143. Ms Ordonez lives in Chalford, about 5 miles from Stroud. She 

said that she works for Fair Shares as a Community Builder and that 

some of her work has been focused on Summer Street. Her role has 

involved meeting local residents and finding out what they like about 

where they live, what is important to them and what would make a 

difference to them. She said that people had spoken to her about the 

importance of the Application Land. 

 

 

SITE VISIT 

 

 

144. As is usual practice at inquiries dealing with applications to 

register land as a new TVG I conducted a site visit. This took place on 

the morning of the last day of the inquiry, 18 September 2014. Gillian 

Parkinson accompanied me from the Council as well as representatives 

of both Applicant and Objector. 

 

145. During my site visit I heard no evidence but I was mindful of 

the evidence that I had seen and heard. I took account of the condition 

of the Application Land and the fact of the lapse of time between the 

end of the Application Period and the time of my site visit and the 

likely further deterioration of the condition of the land 

 

146. As well as visiting the whole of the Application Land and 

looking closely at various features together with the boundaries of it I 

also visited all parts of the claimed neighbourhood and walked some 

of the boundaries of the claimed neighbourhood accompanied by those 

that wished to join me. 

Page 72



	   43	  

 

THE PARTIES SUBMISSIONS 

 

 

147. The parties’ submissions ranged far and wide. The Applicant’s 

submissions require little in the way of summary given that it is, 

inevitably, contended that each and every part of the statutory test 

under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act is met. The Applicant says the 

evidence demonstrates on the balance of probabilities that a significant 

number of the relevant local inhabitants have indulged in qualifying 

use of the Application Land for at least 20 years prior to the 

Application being made. 

 

148. The Objector, in closing, advanced 3 reasons why the 

Application could not succeed. In summary, firstly, it was said that the 

Applicant had failed to prove use of the land for lawful sports and 

pastimes for the requisite 20 year period. This point was directed at the 

extent to which the use was PROW type use, or use ancillary or 

incidental thereto, rather than TVG type use. 

 

149. Secondly the Objector said that user was vi. It is the Objector’s 

contention therefore that user was not ‘as of right’. And, thirdly, the 

Objector submits that the Applicant has failed to demonstrate use by 

the inhabitants of a qualifying neighbourhood because the claimed 

neighbourhood of Summer Street is neither cohesive nor identifiable. 

 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

 

150. In order to determine whether or not the legal test that the 

Applicant has to satisfy is met it is first necessary for me to make 

Page 73



	   44	  

various findings of fact on the strength of the evidence that I have seen 

and heard. Thereafter, I will apply the legal test to those facts and draw 

my conclusions. For the purposes of this section of my report I am 

going to deal separately with the three parcels of land that together 

form the whole of the Application Land. They are the FODL Land, the 

WPD Land and the Parking Land. 

 

 

The Parking Land 

 

 

151. I heard very little about people’s use of the Parking Land. Mr 

Smith said that he had parked on the Parking Land when he lived at 22 

Summer Street. He also said (and directed me to a photograph 

depicting the same) that someone had put a bird table on the Parking 

Land and created a little garden. However, I do not know when that 

occurred. Finally, in terms of evidence of use of that land Ms Pentney 

said that she regularly parked on the Parking Land. 

 

152. During his evidence Mr Smith told the inquiry that he did not 

think the Parking Land had been used for lawful sports and pastimes. 

Given that the Parking Land is outside the boundary of the main part 

of the Application Land and is used, as it has been, throughout the 

Application Period, for the parking of vehicles, it comes as no surprise 

that the Parking Land has not been so used. 

 

153. In light of the foregoing I find as a matter of fact and I conclude 

that the Parking Land has not been used in a qualifying manner 

throughout the Application Period or, indeed, at all. The Application in 

so far as it relates to the Parking Land fails and I will not address that 

part of the Application Land any further in this report, save very 

briefly in my conclusion and final recommendation. 

Page 74



	   45	  

 

The WPD Land 

 

154. This parcel of land sits outside the boundary line of the FODL 

Land. It is a piece of land that people have passed over, back and forth, 

to gain access to or egress from the FODL Land during the time that 

access point B has been in existence. The nature of the use has, 

therefore, been that of a thoroughfare type and not for general 

recreation. 

 

155. I heard no evidence at all directed specifically to the use that has 

been made of the WDP Land and have therefore had to conclude that 

no use other than that which I have described above has occurred 

thereon. Whilst walking does constitute a lawful sport and pastime, 

walking that is of a linear nature, that is consistent with use as a PROW 

as distinct from a TVG, will not be use that contributes to the body of 

evidence in support of an application to register a TVG (I deal with this 

more fully later in this report). 

 

156. In light of the foregoing I find as a matter of fact and I conclude 

that the WPD Land has not been used in a qualifying manner 

throughout the Application Period or, indeed, at all. The Application in 

so far as it relates to the WPD Land fails and I will not address that 

part of the Application Land any further in this report, save very 

briefly in my conclusion and final recommendation. 

 

 

The FODL Land 

 

 

157. I find that the FODL Land was used throughout the entirety of 

the Application Period by members of the public. Clearly, given that 

Page 75



	   46	  

there is no PROW, no user of the Application Land can amount to any 

form of enlarged use associated with use of a PROW. However, I do 

find that much of the regular use of the FODL Land was use of worn 

tracks for walking and dog walking and was, therefore, thoroughfare 

type use. Not only was the evidence I heard supportive of that 

conclusion, notwithstanding the further evidence of use away from the 

worn paths which I shall turn to shortly, the aerial photographs 

produced by the Applicant (dated 1999, 2005 and 2008) clearly show 

the various well established, worn paths around the Application Land, 

both in the upper and lower fields. Those paths can only have been 

created and be visible on photographs of that nature by long and 

frequent use. 

 

158. I did hear evidence of use away from the worn paths. Some of it 

concerned foraging for blackberries and elderflowers. My site visit 

confirmed what I had gleaned form the oral evidence which is that the 

main concentration of hedgerow fruit was along the central hedgerow 

that separated the upper and lower fields. That hedgerow is in close 

proximity to worn paths on either side of it. Therefore, it would be 

accurate to describe foraging in that hedgerow, where the worn path 

has been used to get as close as possible to it, as use that is incidental or 

ancillary to the worn path use. 

 

159. I also heard evidence of use by children for their play. In 

particular, although by no means exclusively, den building appeared 

to have been a pursuit of the Coysh and Florek children and their 

friends. This seems to have occurred between around 1999 and 2008 or 

thereabouts (their evidence certainly did not cover the whole of the 

Application Period). I also heard very imprecise evidence about other 

children’s play including kicking a football around, kite flying, model 

aeroplane flying, general play and so on. However, I found it difficult 

on the evidence as I heard it to gain any clear or detailed impression of 

Page 76



	   47	  

the extent of the area of the FODL Land that was used for those 

activities, precisely what periods such activity occurred in and with 

what frequency. I could not, for instance, determine with any 

confidence or certainty that throughout the whole of 1993 (the first 

year of the Application Period) the whole of the Application Land was 

used continuously for general recreation of the type necessary to 

qualify land for registration as a new TVG (that is recreational use 

discounting PROW type use). 

 

160. There was some evidence of a hay crop having been taken from 

the field in or around 1990. I have no reason to doubt that there was a 

hay crop taken at around that time. It is consistent with both the 

Applicant’s and the Objector’s evidence. However, there is no evidence 

of there having been any agricultural use of the Application Land at all 

during the Application Period and I find that there was none. The 

upshot of this is that at the beginning of the Application Period, the 

FODL Land having been mowed for hay just 3 years before the start of 

it, the land was inevitably in a much better and more usable state than 

towards the end of the period following years of unimpeded growth 

which, by the time I visited the site on my site visit, had the 

appearance of rough, neglected grassland and scrub with large patches 

of nettle and bramble growth and very uneven, tussocky grass over the 

remainder. 

 

161. How did people gain access to the FODL Land? It is clear to me 

that prior to the All Saints development having been built there was 

regular use of access point C. I do not accept, as submitted in evidence 

for the Objector, that it was not possible to gain access at that point. I 

also accept, on the basis of the Applicant’s evidence, that throughout 

the Application Period access has been possible at point A. I do not 

prefer the Objector’s evidence on this point that the gate at point A was 

in place and secured into the Application Period, until 1997. Neither of 

Page 77



	   48	  

the Objector’s witnesses was convincing on the reason why they 

identified 1997 as being the year before which the access at point A was 

unusable. 

 

162. I also accept that access point B was usable during the 

Application Period although the evidence clearly suggested that whilst 

access at point C was possible that was the preferred method of entry 

from Summer Street. It is my conclusion that after the access at point C 

had been closed by the All Saints development the access at point B 

was improved by the installation of a makeshift handrail and became a 

much more well used and regular point of access thereafter. 

 

163. As for the users of the Application Land it is clear to me that 

whilst some of the users came from the claimed neighbourhood of 

Summer Street, not everyone that had been seen using the land was in 

fact an inhabitant of that neighbourhood. As much is clear from the 

evidence of Mr Williams for example who expressly identified users 

that came from outside the claimed neighbourhood, and also the 

evidence of Mr Coysh who referred to people coming from further 

afield in their cars and using the land to exercise their animals. 

 

164. Finally, I am unable to make any finding in relation to the 

cohesiveness, or otherwise, of the Summer Street neighbourhood 

which is the claimed neighbourhood for this Application. I heard no 

evidence directed specifically at the claimed neighbourhood as distinct 

from a small number of vague and general references to “the 

neighbourhood” without any further reference to the boundaries of the 

claimed neighbourhood. I cannot be certain, therefore, that references 

to “the neighbourhood” or “my neighbourhood” were references to the 

neighbourhood as defined for the purposes of this Application. 

 

 

Page 78



	   49	  

APPLYING THE LAW TO THE FACTS 

 

165. I turn now to the legal test that I set out at the beginning of this 

report and apply that test to the evidence I have heard and read and 

the facts I have found in so far as they apply to the FODL Land, the 

Parking Land and WPD Land having already been dealt with above. I 

will do so by reference to the various components of the legal test set 

out in the relevant sections of the 2006 Act. 

 

 

… a significant number … 

 

 

166. Given the number of witnesses whose evidence I have seen or 

heard, I am satisfied that a significant number of the inhabitants of the 

claimed neighbourhood have produced evidence of their use of the 

Application Land. However, whether or not that use amounts to 

qualifying use or whether the claimed neighbourhood is capable of 

being a neighbourhood for the purposes of the statutory test are 

matters I shall address below. 

 

167. I mention one further point here for completeness. Many of the 

Applicant’s witnesses gave evidence that they had seen other people 

using the Application Land for informal recreation. To the extent that 

those people were not specifically identified as coming from within the 

claimed neighbourhood I have not taken account of their use because it 

is quite conceivable, particularly given the evidence I have referred to 

above, that the users referred to may not have come from the claimed 

neighbourhood itself. 

 

 

Page 79



	   50	  

… of the inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a 

locality … 

 

 

168. The Applicant relies upon the “Summer Street” neighbourhood 

within the locality of the (old) Ward of Trinity. The Applicant 

confirmed that this was the basis upon which the Application was 

proceeding on the first day of the Inquiry, it having not been 

absolutely clear before that. The Objector confirmed that it was not 

prejudiced by this late confirmation of neighbourhood and raised no 

issue with the locality relied upon. I have set out the approach that the 

courts have adopted when dealing with this issue at paragraphs 13 – 17 

above. 

 

169.  I have heard no evidence about what makes the claimed 

neighbourhood, as defined on the “neighbourhood map” whereon the 

claimed neighbourhood is outlined in blue, a neighbourhood for the 

purposes of this Application. I visited the neighbourhood and 

inspected the boundaries of it and found that those boundaries 

dissected a number of roads. For instance, the neighbourhood 

boundary as drawn left out some of the houses on the north side of 

Bisley Old Road and all of the houses on the South side of it and there 

was no obvious explanation for that drawing of the boundary and why 

those houses that were excluded were not part of the claimed 

neighbourhood yet the others on that road purportedly were. The 

same or similar observations can be made in relation to Parliament 

Street, Langtoft Road and Middle Leazes.  

 

170. In closing Mr Maile submitted that a number of criteria might be 

seen to create the required cohesiveness. This, of course, indicates that 

Mr Maile accepted that a degree of cohesiveness is a pre-requisite for 

establishing a neighbourhood. He went on to say that the relevant 

Page 80



	   51	  

criteria include the fact that “the neighbourhood / community has been in 

existence for many years; the social interaction of the community; the state of 

mind of the residents; primarily the inhabitants are from the same social class; 

the housing is of a similar age and type; and so on”. I heard no evidence at 

all on any of these matters. Mr Maile’s later submission that the 

Objector’s counsel, Mr Edwards QC, failed to take any of the 

Applicant’s witnesses to any aspect of the neighbourhood is not an 

answer to the Applicant’s failure to adduce any evidence for the 

purposes of establishing that the claimed neighbourhood is capable of 

being a neighbourhood for the purposes of the statutory test. 

 

171. Whilst the test for a neighbourhood for the purposes of the 

statutory test is of course, as Lord Hoffmann in Oxfordshire said, 

deliberately imprecise, it still requires the fact of a neighbourhood to be 

established by evidence. It may be that there is in fact an explanation 

for the apparently inexplicable drawing of the claimed neighbourhood 

boundaries, but none was proffered in evidence and, bearing in mind 

that the onus is on the Applicant to prove that it meets each and every 

part of the statutory test, including any test directed at establishing the 

existence of a qualifying neighbourhood, I cannot conclude that the 

claimed neighbourhood is capable of being a neighbourhood for the 

purposes of this Application. It is my view that the claimed 

neighbourhood is an artificial construct for the purposes of the 

Application. 

 

172. My conclusion in relation to the claimed neighbourhood is, 

essentially, an end to the Application. It is not, therefore strictly 

necessary to deal with the other parts of the statutory test but for 

completeness I shall. Had I considered the claimed neighbourhood to 

be a neighbourhood for the purposes of the statutory test I would have 

concluded, in the absence of any objection or contrary submissions by 

Page 81



	   52	  

the Objector, that the claimed locality was a locality for the purposes of 

the 2006 Act.  

 

 

… have indulged as of right … 

 

 

173. I find that there has been some qualifying “as of right” use of 

the Application Land; that is use that was nec vi, nec clam, nec precario. 

Whilst it was said on behalf of the Objector that users who gained 

access to the FODL Land via access points A or B was vi, as a result of 

physical boundary features having been deliberately breached, I do not 

accept that user was forcible. The law on contentiousness was 

comprehensively reviewed by Patten LJ in Taylor v Betterment Properties 

Limited [2012] EWCA Civ 250 and it is clear that user is contentious if 

the landowner takes steps which signify to the reasonable user that he 

does not acquiesce in the use.  

 

174. I heard no evidence about the circumstances in which the 

entrance at access point A was breached but it is clear to me that 

nothing was done by the landowner throughout the whole of the 

Application Period to convey to the users any message that their use of 

the FODL Land was objected to. The same observation applies to the 

access point at B although it is acknowledged that steps were taken to 

prevent any claimed PROW. 

 

175. It was not suggested that the use by the local inhabitants was 

either clam or precario and I am satisfied that it was not. 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



	   53	  

… in lawful sports and pastimes … 

 

 

176. This part of the test is directed to use that is sometimes 

described as use for general recreation. There is no doubt that the 

activities that I have heard evidence of and that took place on the 

FODL Land fall within the definition of lawful sports and pastimes as 

the courts have interpreted that phrase. However, much of the use that 

I heard evidence of was what can most accurately be described as 

thoroughfare type use of the established worn paths and use ancillary 

or incidental thereto.  

 

177. Sullivan   J   in   R   (on   the   application   of   Laing   Homes   Limited)   v  

Buckinghamshire   County   Council   &   SOS   for   the   Environment   and   Rural  

Affairs   [2004]   1   P   &   CR   36   at   para   102   said   “…it   is   important   to  

distinguish  between  use  which  would  suggest  to  a  reasonable  landowner  that  

the  users  believed  they  were  exercising  a  public  right  of  way  –  to  walk,  with  or  

without   dogs,   around   the   perimeter   of   his   fields   –   and   use   which   would  

suggest  to  a  landowner  that  the  users  believed  they  were  exercising  a  right  to  

indulge  in  lawful  sports  and  pastimes  across  the  whole  of  his  fields”.   

 

178. Further, in Oxfordshire   County   Council   v   Oxford   City   Council   &  

Another  [2004]  Ch  253,  at  para  102,  Lightman  J  said  “The  issue  raised  is  

whether  user  of  a  track  or  tracks  situated  on  or  traversing  the  land  claimed  as  

a  green   for  pedestrian  recreational  purposes  will  qualify  as  user   for  a   lawful  

sport  or  pastime  for  the  purposes  of  a  claim  to  the  acquisition  of  rights  to  use  

as  a  green.   If   the  track  or  tracks   is  or  are  of  such  character  that  user  of   it  or  

them   cannot   give   rise   to   a   presumption   of   dedication   at   common   law   as   a  

public  highway,  user  of  such  a  track  or  tracks  …  may  readily  qualify  as  user  

for  a  lawful  pastime  for  the  purposes  of  a  claim  to  the  acquisition  of  rights  to  

Page 83



	   54	  

use  as  a  green.  The  answer  is  more  complicated  where  the  track  or  tracks  are  of  

such  a  character  that  user  of   it  or  them  can  give  rise  to  such  a  presumption.  

The  answer  must  depend  on  how  the  matter  would  have  appeared  to  the  owner  

of  the   land  …  if  the  position  is  ambiguous,  the   inference  should  generally  be  

drawn  of  exercise  of  the  less  onerous  right  (the  public  right  of  way)  rather  than  

the  more  onerous  (the  right  to  use  as  a  green)”. 

 

179. I have found that a substantial proportion of the use I have 

heard evidence of is use that would appear to the landowner as 

thoroughfare or PROW type use. That use, together with any use 

ancillary or incidental thereto, must, therefore be discounted from the 

body of evidence that supports the Application for registration as a 

new TVG.  

 

180. Once that use is discounted I am not satisfied that there is 

evidence of sufficient use for lawful sports and pastimes continuously, 

throughout the whole of the Application Period, of the whole of the 

FODL Land or indeed any particular part of it. Whilst there may have 

been some periods of more intense use that might be described as more 

than trivial or sporadic, such as more intense periods of children 

building dens for example, that use does not amount, in my view, to 

evidence of sufficient use of the land for lawful sports and pastimes by 

a significant number of the inhabitants of a qualifying neighbourhood 

for the statutory test to be met. 

 

 

… on the land … 

 

 

181. Reference to the land is reference to the whole of the 

Application Land. Of course, it is not necessary for each and every part 

Page 84



	   55	  

of the land to have been subject to qualifying use. Indeed, in some 

circumstances it may be impossible to use the whole of the land due to 

its topography and nature, as was the case in Oxfordshire County 

Council v Oxford City Council.   

  

182. However, it will be clear from the conclusions I have drawn in 

relation to the evidence I have read and heard that I do not accept that 

the whole of the Application Land (as distinct from the worn paths 

along which PROW type use has been indulged in), or indeed any part 

of it, has been used in a qualifying manner throughout the whole of the 

relevant period for the reasons already set out above.  

  

… for a period of at least twenty years … 

  

183. I accept that the Applicant has produced evidence spanning the 

whole of the twenty year Application Period. However, that use has 

not been qualifying use of the whole or any part of the Application 

Land throughout the period. 

 

… and they continue to do so at the time of the application … 

 

184. I accept that use of the FODL Land, as I have found it to be, did 

continue to the time of the application. However, as already stated, the 

use was not qualifying for the purposes of this Application. 

 

 

 

Page 85



	   56	  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

185. Before I set out my final conclusion which by now will have 

become apparent, I would like to express my thanks to the Commons 

Registration Authority for their efficient organisation of the Inquiry 

and the assistance that was provided to me. In particular I would like 

to express my gratitude to Carrie Denness, Gillian Parkinson and Janet 

Smith who dealt with all matters arising prior to and throughout the 

Inquiry process in a very helpful and highly efficient manner. I would 

also like to express my thanks to the witnesses and members of the 

public who attended and spoke to the Inquiry. Finally, I was greatly 

assisted by the parties’ representatives. I am grateful to them for their 

thoughtful analyses and submissions on the issues before the Inquiry. 

 

 

FINAL CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

 

186. I conclude that the Application fails and recommend that the 

Application to register the Application Land, consisting of the FODL 

Land, the Parking Land and the WPD Land, as a new TVG should be 

rejected. The reasons for rejection, subject to the relevant Committee 

following my recommendation, can simply be stated to be those set out 

in this report. 

 

 

Rowena Meager 

No 5 Chambers 

1 December 2014  

 

 

Page 86



COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Update Report 
Commons Registration: New Procedure for Applications to amend the Commons 

Register

INTRODUCTION

1. Gloucestershire County Council is the Commons Registration Authority under the 
Commons Registration Act 1965 and the Commons Act 2006 which administers 
the registers of common land and town or village greens.

THE COMMONS REGISTRATION (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2014

2. The Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2014 come into force on the 
15 December 2014. These regulations provide general members of the public 
with the power to apply to the Commons Registration Authority (“CRA”) to amend 
the registers of common land and town and village greens under;

 Section 19(2)(a) of the Commons Act 2006 – to correct a mistake made by 
the CRA when it made or amended an entry in the register; and

 Paragraphs 6 to 9 of Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006 – to remove 
‘buildings’ and ‘other land’ wrongly registered as either common land or town 
or village greens.

Page 87

Agenda Item 5



3. The CRA’s role is to process any applications submitted to the County Council 
and amend the registers of common land and town and village greens where 
appropriate. The CRA will be responsible for advertising the application, collating 
any representations and deciding who the determining authority is (e.g. the 
County Council as the CRA or the Planning Inspectorate). A fee will be payable 
for applications made under paragraphs 6-9 of Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 
2006 but not for applications made under section 19 of the Commons Act 2006, 
given this was an error made by the CRA at first instance. 

4. CRA’s are allowed to set their own fees in relation to dealing with such 
applications, ensuring that the fees are ‘reasonable’ in nature.

5. Applications are submitted to the CRA, but certain classes of applications must 
be referred to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) for determination. Presently it is 
proposed that CRA’s will be responsible for all applications under Schedule 2 
(paragraphs 6-9) and applications under section 19 of the Commons Act 2006 if 
the effect could be to add to, or remove land, from the register or to correct the 
quantification of rights.

6. The provisions of the regulations were piloted by 7 CRA’s as part of a ‘Pioneer 
Project’, which implemented the Commons Act 2006 for those authorities from 
October 2008. The ‘Pioneer Authorities’ are Blackburn & Darwen, Cornwell, 
Devon, Herefordshire, Hertfordshire, Kent and Lancashire.

Since the implementation each CRA has received the following number of 
applications:- 

Pioneer Authority Applications 
received under 

section 19 
Commons Act 2006

Applications 
received under 

Schedule 2 
paragraphs 6-9 of 
the Commons Act 

2006

Blackburn & Darwen 0 0
Cornwell 0 2
Devon 6 0
Herefordshire 4 3
Hertfordshire 3 4
Kent 3 0
Lancashire 0 2

Page 88



7.  Based on the number of corrective applications received by the ‘Pioneer   
Authorities’ compared to the total area of common land and town and village 
greens in their areas Defra estimate that Gloucestershire will receive 
approximately 0.5 applications to amend the commons register (this is based on 
2124.9 hectares).

DELEGATED AUTHORITY

8. It is proposed that any contentious applications brought under section 19 or 
paragraphs 6-9 of Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006 will be brought before 
the Commons and Rights of Way Committee (“CROW”) for determination. All 
other applications will be determined under delegated authority by the Head of 
Legal Services in consultation with the nominated lead members of CROW 
Committee. 

APPLICATION FEES

9. Regulation 17 of The Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2014 confers 
a right for fees to be payable in respect of applications made under paragraphs 6-
9 of Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006. There is no cap on the fee amount, 
just that the fee must be ‘reasonable’. The 2014 Regulations requires a CRA to 
publish the fees on their website in respect of such applications, Where no fees 
have been published a CRA cannot charge for handling/dealing with an 
application.

10. The ‘Pioneer Authorities’ have each set fees for dealing with applications       
under  Section 19 and paragraphs 6-9 under Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 
2006 which currently stands at:-

Pioneer Authority Fee
£

Blackburn & Darwen 600.00
Cornwell 1000.00
Devon 750.00
Herefordshire 1000.00
Hertfordshire 1000.00
Kent 600.00
Lancashire 750.00

Page 89



11. The CRA proposes to charge £1,000.00 in respect of processing relevant      
applications; this is based on an estimate of 2/3 days officer time at full cost 
recovery. The CRA will seek to review the fee structure to reflect actual 
experience.                                                                           

CONCLUSION

12. The introduction of the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2014 to 
amend and correct the commons register will help to achieve the aim of the 
Commons Act 2006 to enable the commons registers to be brought up to 
date, so that they once again become a reliable record of the extent of land 
rights.

DEPARTMENTAL CONTACT

13. Carrie Denness, 
Principal Lawyer (Planning/Highways
Corporate Team,
Legal Services

Tel: 01452 328724                    

Email: carrie.denness@gloucestersthire.gov.uk

Page 90

mailto:carrie.denness@gloucestersthire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes -
	4 Application for the registration of land known as "Baxter's Field", Summer Street, Stroud, Gloucestershire as a town or village green under Section 15 Of The Commons Act 2006
	Appendix 1 - Baxter's Field Application
	Appendix 2 - Cover Sheet
	Baxter'sFieldTVGReport01 12 14

	5 Commons Registration: New Procedure for Applications to amend the Commons Register

